STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

\_\_\_\_\_  
Appeal from Pickens County

Honorable Perry H. Gravely, Circuit Court Judge  
\_\_\_\_\_

THE STATE,

RESPONDENT,

V.

BRANDON JERMAINE BENSON,

APPELLANT

APPELLATE CASE NO 2015-002483  
\_\_\_\_\_

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT  
\_\_\_\_\_

JOHN H. STROM  
Appellate Defender

South Carolina Commission on Indigent Defense  
Division of Appellate Defense  
PO Box 11589  
Columbia, SC 29211-1589  
(803) 734-1330

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT

ORIGINAL

RECEIVED

APR 11 2017

SC Court of Appeals

##

### **STATEMENT OF ISSUE ON APPEAL**

The trial judge erred in denying Appellant's *Batson* motion where the State struck the only black juror, Juror #153, in Appellant's entire jury pool and the State's reason for striking Juror #153, a black female, was clearly pretextual in light of the State's own *Batson* motion challenging everyone of Appellant's strikes of white female jurors.

### **STATEMENT OF THE CASE**

Appellant Brandon Benson was indicted by the Pickens County Grand Jury for criminal sexual conduct first degree. R. 438 – 439. On November 16-18, 2020, Appellant proceeded to trial before the Honorable Perry H. Gravely and a jury. R. 1. John DeJong represented Appellant. Assistant Solicitor Shannon Odom represented the State. *Id.* The jury found Appellant guilty as charged. R. 431, ll. 14-25. The trial court sentenced Appellant to twelve years imprisonment. R. 436, ll. 12-21.

### **STATEMENT OF THE FACTS**

Appellant, a black man who was twenty eight years old at the time of this incident, was indicted for participating in the rape of Tasha Medlin, a married white woman. Sometime between 7:00 and 9:00 p.m. on September 27 2012, Medlin and her husband, Robert, had a heated fight at their rural Pickens County home off of State Road 39 outside of Liberty. R. 46, l. 7- 49, l. 8; *see also* R. 166, l. 9 - 174, l. 10. Medlin was heavily intoxicated. That day, she had already consumed a pint of vodka and was working on a pint of Wild Turkey 101 proof whisky. *Id.*

In addition to being intoxicated, Medlin was also taking Zoloft and Klonopin. R. 48, ll. 2-24. Robert was angry with Medlin for being drunk and high on anti-depressants while driving their children to and from school. *Id.* He also suspected her of having a sexual affair with a local drug dealer named "Eric" who lived in Liberty. R. 172, ll. 3-19.

Both Medlin and Robert recalled at trial believing at the time that their marriage was over. R. 168, ll. 4-22. The fight on the night of September 27th became so heated that Robert called law enforcement to have them remove Medlin from their residence so that he could safely take their children to his parents' house. R. 166, l. 9 – 168, l. 20.

Unlike her husband, whose parents live nearby, Medlin had no local family she could stay with if kicked out the house. Nevertheless, once a Pickens County deputy arrived, Medlin decided to leave the house on foot. She grabbed the unfinished pint of Wild Turkey and started walking towards Liberty. R. 48, l. 18 - 49, l. 24. At trial, she claimed that she was walking to her father-in-law's tire and car repair shop in Easley where she was hoping her father-in-law would call her family in North Carolina.

The auto shop was eleven miles from their house. *Id.* She also testified at trial that she had her cell phone on her at the time that she left the house. R. 49, l. 25 - 50, l. 13. Medlin never explained why she did not simply call her family using her cell phone before she left the house.

She would claim that, as she was getting close to a rock quarry located on the far side of Liberty from her house, a white sedan stopped and the three men inside offered to take her home. R. 50, l. 18 - 51, l. 19. The rock quarry is roughly seven miles from Medlin's home.<sup>1</sup> At trial, she did not know what time she accepted a ride, only that she had been walking for a long time by this point. R. 76, l. 14 - 78, l. 24.

Medlin sat in the back passenger side seat. Once inside the car, she claimed that a black man in the front seat turned around, crawled over his seat, and "pinned my arms to the back of the seat." *Id.* Then a second black male seated in the back on the driver's side of the car, whom she would identify as Appellant almost a year later when DNA test results from the SLED kit were returned, pulled down her pants and raped her. *Id.*

At trial, Medlin had a hard time consistently explaining how the rape occurred. First, she stated that the front seat passenger had held her shoulders down. Later, when attempting to explain the bruising around her knees, Medlin stated that the front seat passenger had actually held her legs down with his arms while using his knees to hold her shoulder down. R. 67, l. 11 - 134, l. 18.

However, only one of her shoulders was bruised. Curiously, despite not remembering many details from that night, Medlin was adamant that she never fell or tripped while she drunkenly walked almost seven miles down a dark country road with no sidewalk. R. 76, l. 2 - 141, l. 22.

---

<sup>1</sup> This Court may take judicial notice of the distances between locations. All distances are measured using Google Maps. At Appellant's trial there was extensive testimony on the distances between various locations. R. 48, l. 7 - 58, l. 24.

At trial, Medlin testified that the sedan had been traveling towards Liberty, and away from Easley. At some point during the incident, the car changed directions and headed away from Liberty, towards Easley. R. 52, ll. 2-13. Medlin stated at trial that the stretch of road they were on was dark and that she did not get a good look at any of her assailants. R. 52, ll. 2-5.

She described the front seat passenger as a big and tall black male in his thirties and the back seat passenger as a tall, skinny black male around twenty years old. R. 95, l. 22 - 96, l. 11. The driver was a white male. R. 97, ll. 10-24. She was never able to identify the driver or the front seat passenger. *Id.* She was able to identify Appellant as the back seat passenger from a six photo lineup presented to her a year after the incident. R. 253, l. 21 - 362, l. 8.

After raping her, Medlin claimed that the three men kicked her out of the car in front of the Westgate Apartments in Easley. R. 55, l. 3 - 57, l. 21. Coincidentally, the Westgate apartments are less than a half-mile away from her father-in-law's repair shop, her initial objective when leaving her home. The Westgate apartments were also where Appellant lived with his girlfriend and their two children. R. 284, l. 3 - 286, l. 22.

#### **Medlin's Arrest for Public Intoxication and Subsequent Reporting of Rape**

At 2:00 a.m. on September 28th, the Easley police department received a phone call from a concerned resident of the Westgate apartments that there was a drunk woman causing a disturbance. R. 181, l. 5 - 183, l. 19. Officer Bob Felton responded to the call and found a highly intoxicated Medlin. "[S]he was being loud, boisterous. . . . Her speech was very slurred. She was unsteady on her feet." R. 182, l. 11 - 183, l. 5.

Medlin told Officer Felton that she was trying to get a ride home and that two men, one white and one black, had attempted to rape her. R. 183, ll. 7-24. Medlin refused any assistance. She

did not want to file a police report and did not want Felton to call a Pickens County deputy who would have had jurisdiction over where the reported attempted rape occurred. *Id.*

Felton then decided to arrest Medlin for, “[h]er safety at that point, and due to her high level of intoxication, I placed her under arrest for . . . public intoxication. R. 184, ll. 9-19. When Felton asked her how much she had to drink, Medlin claimed that she had “a few beers when the sun was still up. . . . She then told [me]. . . the two guys were riding around drinking beers.” *Id.*

When Felton noted that it was two in the morning and had been dark for hours, Medlin admitted that she drank a bottle of liquor while she was “hanging out” at the Westgate apartments with the two men she accused of raping her. *Id.* Melton was released on a personal recognizance bond at around 9:00 a.m. on September 28th. When personnel at the Easley jail refused to take her to the hospital to have a rape kit done, Medlin claimed she walked to Baptist Easley.

Emergency room nurse Kim Fogarty administered the SLED kit and examined Medlin. Medlin had bruising to one shoulder, her knees, and her arm. R. 159, ll. 5-14. Bruises on her upper arm appeared to Fogarty to be in varying stages of healing. R. 119, l. 3 – 194, l. 19. She also had a bruised lip.

Medlin did not have any bruising of her pubic bone and there was no tearing in her vaginal area. R. 153, l. 9. Fogarty also removed a tampon from Medlin that she had apparently forgotten about having used. R. 125, l. 22 – 126, l. 11. Fogarty collected Medlin’s clothing, the tampon, a vaginal swab, and blood and urine samples for testing by SLED. Medlin was then interviewed by Detective Art Taylor of the Pickens County Sheriff’s department. R. 236, l. 3 - 238, l. 24.

At trial, Medlin stated that after she finished at the hospital, she called her husband asking for a ride home. R. 61, l. 15 – 62, l. 21. He refused, but his brother agreed to take Medlin home. After she got home, she admitted herself into a drug and alcohol rehabilitation clinic. *Id.* As the

State would stress at trial, since this incident, Medlin and her husband had reconciled and Medlin had been sober following her release from treatment. R. 399, l. 12 – 408, l. 15; R. 408, l. 12 – 409, l. 11.

### **Law Enforcement's Investigation and SLED Test Results**

In October of 2013, Pickens County Investigator Art Taylor received notice from SLED that Appellant's DNA had been found on the tampon and fingernail scrapings collected from Medlin. R. 243, l. 24 – 245, l. 3. Prior to the DNA results, Taylor's investigation had stalled. In the weeks following the alleged rape, Taylor had struggled to develop any leads.

He would claim at trial that an unnamed resident of Westgate Apartments, identified two men as having been potentially involved: Corey Flower and Joey Ligon. R. 240, l. 5 – 241, l. 21. Fowler, who was white, owned a white Ford Crown Victoria. When shown a picture of the car, Medlin believed it was similar to that picked her up. *Id.* Fowler refused to speak with Taylor. Ligon denied being involved, but – according to Investigator Taylor – identified Appellant as possibly being involved. R. 242, l. 7 – 243, l. 20. At trial, Taylor did not elaborate on why Ligon suggested that Appellant may have been involved.

By this time, Appellant had moved to neighboring Greenville County with his girlfriend and their children. Taylor was initially unable to locate him. After the SLED test results were received, Taylor was able to locate Appellant and interrogated him. R. 252, l. 4 – 253, l. 25.

Taylor also had Medlin identify Appellant on a six photo lineup. R. 254, l. 21 – 255, l. 22. Medlin identified Appellant in the lineup despite the incident occurring over a year earlier in a car traveling down a dark country road and her having been highly intoxicated at the time.

### **Appellant's Version of Events**

When accused by Investigator Taylor of having raped Medlin, Appellant initially denied knowing her. R. 255, l. 24 – 258, l. 10. Eventually, Appellant admitted that he knew Medlin and that she had traded sex for crack cocaine on the night of incident. *Id.*; *see also* R. 311, l. 3 – 314, l. 10. Appellant recalled at trial that Cory Fowler and Appellant had called him asking to buy crack cocaine from him. *Id.* Medlin arrived with Fowler in Fowler's white Ford Crown Victoria. Appellant snuck out of the apartment that he shared with his girlfriend and the three drove just outside of Easley. *Id.*

Fowler pulled his car off to the side of the road and Appellant had rushed sex with Medlin. R. 313, ll. 9-24. Appellant then gave Fowler and Medlin crack cocaine to split. R. 314, l. 1 – 433, l. 16. Fowler then attempted to have sex with Medlin, but was unable to. *Id.* Fowler and Medlin then took Appellant back to the Westgate Apartments. *Id.* Appellant did not know what Fowler and Medlin did after they dropped him back at his home.

Appellant further testified that Medlin and her husband regularly bought drugs from him. R. 308, ll. 3-19. He denied raping Medlin and maintained, both when interrogated police and at trial, that the sex had been a consensual transaction.

## ARGUMENT

**The trial judge erred in denying Appellant's *Batson* motion where the State struck the only black juror, Juror #153, in Appellant's entire jury pool and the State's reason for striking Juror #153, a black female, was clearly pretextual in light of the State's own *Batson* motion challenging everyone of Appellant's strikes of white female jurors.**

### **Relevant Facts**

Appellant's entire jury pool had only one black person, Juror #153, an elderly black woman. R. 5, l. 18 – 6, l. 3. Appellant, a thirty-one year old black man, had no black men in his jury pool. Juror #153 was the first juror drawn. *Id.* The State struck her. *Id.* She was one of only three strikes used by the State during jury selection. The other two were used on white men. R. 10, l. 4 - 11, ll. 10-17. The State also struck a white female who was selected to serve as an alternate. R. 19, ll. 10-18.

At the end of juror selection, the State launched a *Batson* challenge to the defense's striking of multiple potential white women jurors. R. 21, l. 5 - 28, l. 23. After hearing the defense's explanation, the trial court denied the State's motion. *Id.*

The defense then countered with a *Batson* motion challenging the State's strike of the only black person in Appellant's jury panel. R. 28, l. 24 – 32, l. 25. The State posited that they had struck Juror #153 because of her criminal record. The solicitor averred that Juror #153 had twenty-eight charges for "financial fraud, less than five hundred dollars in a sixth month period". *Id.*

However when pressed, the solicitor conceded that she did not know the disposition of any of Juror #153's charges. R. 32, l. 6-10. The solicitor did not mention whether any of the State's other strikes were exercised because of a juror's criminal record.

Despite the solicitor not knowing the disposition of the twenty-eight counts of financial fraud, less than \$500 in a six month period, the trial court speculated that “if she were convicted” then the State had provided an adequate race neutral reason for striking her. *Id.* at ll. 18-25.

Based on that assumption, the trial court denied the defense’s *Batson* motion. *Id.* Accordingly, Appellant proceeded to trial accused of raping a married white woman in front of an all-white, predominately female jury. *Id.*

## Discussion

The United States Supreme Court has held that the Equal Protection Clause of the Fourteenth Amendment prohibits the prosecution from striking potential jurors on the basis of race. *Batson v. Kentucky*, 476 U.S. 79, 89 (1986).<sup>2</sup> Eight years after *Batson*, the United States Supreme Court recognized that the Fourteenth Amendment also prohibits the striking of a juror on the basis of gender. *J.E.B. v. Alabama*, 511 U.S. 127, 146 (1994).

In *Purkett v. Elem*, 514 U.S. 765, 767 (1995), the United States Supreme Court set out the procedures for a trial court to follow when a party challenges a peremptory strike. The South Carolina Supreme Court adopted that procedure in *State v. Adams*, 322 S.C. 114, 124, 470 S.E.2d 366, 372 (1996) and reaffirmed the procedure in *State v. Giles*, 407 S.C. 14, 754 S.E.2d 261 (2014). The first step requires the moving party to make out a prima facie case of racial or gender discrimination.

---

<sup>2</sup> South Carolinians are afforded additional equal protection defenses under our State Constitution. Specifically, the State Constitution guarantees that, “[t]he privileges and immunities of citizens of this State and of the United States under this Constitution shall not be abridged, nor shall any person be deprived of life, liberty, or property without due process of law, nor shall any person be denied the equal protection of the law.” S.C. Const. Art. 1, § 3.

Additionally, “[t]he right of trial by jury shall be preserved inviolate. Any person charged with an offense shall enjoy the right to a speedy and public trial by an impartial jury.” S.C. Const. Art. 1, § 14.

In the second step, the burden of production shifts to the proponent of the strike to present a race or gender neutral explanation for the challenged strike. *Giles*, 407 S.C. at 18-19, 754 S.E.2d at 263. If a race or gender neutral explanation is provided then a third step is taken requiring the trial judge to decide whether the moving party has proven purposeful racial or gender discrimination. *Id.*; see also *Purkett*, 514 U.S. at 767.

The South Carolina Supreme Court has held that the proponent of the strike must give “a clear and reasonably specific explanation of his legitimate reasons for exercising the challenge.” *Giles*, 407 S.C. at 20, 754 S.E.2d at 264 citing *Miller–El v. Dretke*, 545 U.S. 231, 125 S.Ct. 2317, 162 L.Ed.2d 196 (2005) (*internal quotations omitted*). The explanation provided by the proponent of the strike must provide a factual basis that the trial court can review for legitimacy. Unless discriminatory intent is inherent in the explanation, the explanation will be deemed race neutral at step two. *Id.*; see also *Purkett*, 514 U.S. at 768.

During the third step, the moving party “must show the reason offered, though facially race-neutral, was actually mere pretext to engage in purposeful racial discrimination.” *State v. Cochran*, 369 S.C. 308, 315, 631 S.E.2d 294, 298 (Ct. App. 2006). “If the trial judge determines the race and gender neutral explanations were mere pretext, then the trial court must quash the jury panel and select a new jury. *Id.* The objective of *Batson* challenges is to ensure that no citizen is disqualified from jury service on account of his or her race or gender. *Giles*, 407 S.C. at 21, 754 S.E.2d at 265.

Appellant was denied a jury of his peers in a credibility case with obvious racial overtones. Appellant, a black man, was accused of raping a married white woman. The State struck the only black juror in Appellant’s jury pool. R. 5, l. 18 – 6, l. 3.

The State’s reasons for striking Juror #153, that she had a criminal record, was pretextual. Critically, the solicitor did not know the disposition of any of Juror #153’s charges. R. 30, l. 4 –

32, l.25. Nor did the State identify another juror that they struck because of his or her criminal record.

Most tellingly, the State challenged the defense's striking of several white females. R. 21, l. 13 – 28, l. 23. The trial court erroneously ruled the State's reason for striking Juror #153 was race neutral "if" the juror had been convicted of the twenty-eight minor financial fraud charges. R. 34, ll. 11-21. However, the State offered no proof that she had been convicted, despite purportedly striking Juror #153 because of her criminal history. R. 30, ll. 4-16; R. 32, ll. 6-10

Accordingly, the trial court erred in accepting the State's reason for striking Juror #153 where she was the only black juror in Appellant's entire jury pool and the State's reason for striking her was clearly pretextual in light of the State's own *Batson* motion challenging everyone of Appellant's strikes of white female jurors.

**CONCLUSION**

Based on the foregoing arguments Appellant respectfully request that this Court reverse his conviction and remand the matter for a new trial.