ORIGINAL

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM PICKENS COUNTY

Court of General Sessions
Perry H. Gravely, Circuit Court Judge

Appellate Case No. 2015-002483

THE STATE,

Respondent,

v.

BRANDON JERMAINE BENSON,

Appellant.

FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

ALAN WILSON
Attorney General

JENNIFER ELLIS ROBERTS
Assistant Attorney General

Post Office Box 11549
Columbia, SC 29211
(803) 734-3727

W. WALTER WILKINS, III
Solicitor, Thirteenth Judicial Circuit

305 East North Street, Suite 325
Greenville, SC 29601
(864) 467-8282

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM PICKENS COUNTY

Court of General Sessions

STATEMENT OF ISSUE ON APPEAL

The trial court properly denied Appellant's *Batson* motion where he failed to carry his burden of showing the State's race-neutral explanation for striking the only African-American juror was mere pretext to engage in purposeful racial discrimination.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A Pickens County Grand Jury indicted Appellant for first-degree criminal sexual conduct. (R.438-439) On November 16–18, 2015, Appellant proceeded to a trial before the Honorable Perry H. Gravely and a jury. John DeJong, Esquire, represented Appellant, and Assistant Solicitor Shannon Odom, Esquire, represented the State. The jury found Appellant guilty, and Judge Gravely sentenced him to twelve years' imprisonment. (R. 431, 436).

Appellant filed a timely Notice of Appeal and subsequently submitted a Brief in support of his appeal. This Brief of Respondent follows.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

Appellant was charged with first-degree criminal sexual conduct in the rape of Victim and proceeded to trial.¹ After the jury was selected, the State made a motion pursuant to *Batson v. Kentucky*² and its progeny on the grounds of gender discrimination in regard to Appellant's strike of eight female jurors and one female alternate. (R. 21, lines 5–17). Defense counsel gave gender-neutral explanations for each strike, and the trial court denied the challenges. (R. 22, line 1–R. 28, line 23). Appellant then made a *Batson* motion in relation to the State's strike of the only African-American juror on the panel. (R. 28, line 24–R. 29, line 11). The solicitor countered Appellant's prima facie showing by explaining that the juror had twenty-eight counts of financial transaction card fraud, another fraud charge, and a petit larceny charge on her criminal history. The solicitor noted that she also struck two other jurors due to their having a criminal history. (R. 29, line 13–R. 30, line 7). The solicitor clearly stated, "It has nothing to do with her race." (R. 30, line 7–8). The trial court remarked that the juror had a very common name and that he wanted to be sure they had the right person. (R. 30, lines 9–13). The clerk and the solicitor checked the date of birth for the criminal record on NCIC and verified it matched the juror. (R. 31, line 7–R. 32, line 5). At the same time, defense counsel brought up whether the juror would have been qualified to begin with depending on what the maximum penalty was

¹ Appellant seems to take the opportunity to use his Statement of Facts simply to impugn the character of the rape victim, a not uncommon trial tactic utilized by the defense bar in sexual assault cases and one likely to increase in frequency following our Supreme Court's recent derogation of Legislative efforts to reverse South Carolina's shameful history of victim blaming in the courtroom. *See State v. Stukes*, 416 S.C. 493, 787 S.E.2d 480 (2016) (holding instructing the jury that testimony of the victim need not be corroborated in prosecutions for criminal sexual conduct was an impermissible charge on the facts and, therefore, unconstitutional). For purposes of the issue on appeal, the only relevant facts pertain to what happened during Appellant's *Batson* motion and the State will limit its recitation of the facts to those germane to the issue at hand.

² 476 U.S. 79 (1986).

for the charges. (R. 30, lines 20–22). Once the solicitor obtained the entire criminal history, she told the court it did not show a disposition for the twenty-eight counts of financial transaction card fraud but that the information provided that the charges were for “less than five hundred (\$500) in a six-month period.” (R. 32, line 6–10). In response, the trial judge stated, “So that—yeah, that would be under the—if she were convicted.” (R. 32, lines 11–13). The trial judge then asked the defendant if there was anything else, to which he responded, “No, Your Honor.” (R. 32, lines 15–17). The trial judge then denied the defense’s *Batson* challenge, stating: “I believe that that is definitely a non-race reason for the strikes.” (R. 32, lines 18–24).

Ultimately, after the presentation of testimony and other evidence at trial, the jury found Appellant guilty and the trial court sentenced him to twelve years’ imprisonment. (R. 431, 436).

ARGUMENT

The trial court properly denied Appellant's *Batson* motion where he failed to carry his burden of showing the State's race-neutral explanation for striking the only African-American juror was mere pretext to engage in purposeful racial discrimination.

Appellant argues, inexplicably, that the trial judge erred in denying his *Batson* motion where the State struck the only African-American juror, claiming the reason "was clearly pretextual in light of the State's own *Batson* motion challenging everyone [sic] of Appellant's strikes of white female jurors." (App.Br.9). On the contrary, the State's reason for striking Juror #153 was, as stated, because of her criminal history, which was the same reason the State struck two white jurors. Therefore, the trial court correctly found the reason to be race neutral, and this Court should affirm.

In addition to Appellant's central argument regarding the State's *Batson* motion, he also argues that "the trial court speculated that 'if she were convicted' then the State had provided an adequate race neutral reason for striking her." (App.Br.10). Presumably, he believes this means that the trial court concluded the State had not provided an adequate race-neutral reason for the strike because she had not been convicted. However, a careful reading of the record shows the trial court's comment "if she were convicted" actually referred to an earlier discussion defense counsel brought up about whether the maximum penalty for the charges would have disqualified Juror #153 from jury service altogether.³ (R. 30, lines 19–22; R. 32, lines 2–16). When the solicitor told the court that the criminal history information she received regarding Juror #153 said "less than five hundred (\$500) in a six-month period," the trial judge said, "Okay. So that—yeah, that would be under the—if she were convicted." (R. 32, lines 2–16). It is clear from the

³ "[N]o person is qualified to serve as a juror in any court in this State if: (1) he has been convicted in a state or federal court of record of a crime punishable by imprisonment for more than one year and his civil rights have not been restored by pardon or amnesty." S.C. Code § 14-7-810 (2017).

context of the discussion begun by defense counsel that the judge was talking about statutory disqualification and the penalty for “less than five hundred (\$500) in a six-month period” being under one year, so that Juror #153 would not have been disqualified even “if she were convicted.” In no way did the comment refer to what Appellant claims is the trial court’s speculation that “if she were convicted” *then* the State had provided an adequate race-neutral reason for striking her. Indeed, the propriety of disqualification from jury service and the use of peremptory strikes are separate and distinct issues. Thus, Appellant’s tangential focus on the trial judge’s comment is of no moment.

Preservation

As to Appellant’s core *Batson* claim, initially the State submits the arguments Appellant makes on appeal for why the State’s reason for striking the only African-American juror was mere pretext and actually demonstrated purposeful discrimination are not preserved. At trial, Appellant based his *Batson* motion on the simple fact that the State struck the only African-American juror. However, when given a race-neutral explanation, he declined to go further and explain to the trial court why this was pretextual or point to direct evidence of purposeful discrimination. He did not argue that pretext was shown in light of the State’s *Batson* motion (as he does in his Issue Statement), nor did he argue that the fact that the solicitor did not know the disposition of Juror #153’s charges somehow showed the reason was pretextual. Additionally, he did not argue to the trial court that the State did not mention whether its other strikes were related to criminal history, likely because the State DID do that at trial. Therefore, none of the arguments now raised on appeal were raised to or ruled upon by the trial court and thus are not preserved for appellate review. *See State v. Dunbar*, 356 S.C. 138, 142, 587 S.E.2d 691, 693

(2003) (“In order for an issue to be preserved for appellate review, it must have been raised to and ruled upon by the trial judge.”).

Standard of Review

In criminal cases, the appellate court sits to review errors of law only. *State v. Inman*, 409 S.C. 19, 25, 760 S.E.2d 105, 108 (2014); *State v. Palmer*, 415 S.C. 502, 511, 783 S.E.2d 823, 827 (Ct. App. 2016). A court is bound by the trial court’s factual findings unless they are clearly erroneous. *Id.* Thus, on review, this Court is limited to determining whether the trial court abused its discretion. *State v. Edwards*, 384 S.C. 504, 508, 682 S.E.2d 820, 822 (2009). An abuse of discretion occurs when the court’s decision is unsupported by the evidence or controlled by an error of law. *Palmer* at 511, 783 S.E.2d at 827.

Batson Framework

The Equal Protection Clause of the Fourteenth Amendment to the United States Constitution prohibits the striking of a juror on the basis of race. *Batson v. Kentucky*, 476 U.S. 79, 89 (1986); *State v. Inman*, 409 S.C. 19, 25, 760 S.E.2d 105, 108 (2014); *State v. Cochran*, 369 S.C. 308, 313, 631 S.E.2d 294, 297 (Ct. App. 2006). “Once a peremptory challenge is opposed, the trial court must, upon request, conduct a *Batson* hearing and adhere to the procedures set forth in *Purkett v. Elem*, 514 U.S. 765, 767 (1995), and adopted by our Supreme Court in *State v. Adams*, 322 S.C. 114, 124, 470 S.E.2d 366, 372 (1996).” *Cochran*, 369 S.C. at 314, 631 S.E.2d at 297–98. The United States Supreme Court has set forth a three-step inquiry for evaluating whether a party executed a peremptory challenge in a manner that violated the Equal Protection Clause. *Inman* at 26, 760 S.E.2d at 108; *see Purkett*, 514 U.S. at 767–68. (1995).

First, the party making the *Batson* motion must make a prima facie showing that the strike was based on race. *Inman* at 26, 760 S.E.2d at 108. If a sufficient showing is made, the trial court will then move to the next step, which requires the challenging party to provide a race-neutral explanation for the strike. *Id.* If the trial court is satisfied that this burden has been met, it will proceed to the third step, where the trial court has to determine whether the challenging party has proved purposeful discrimination. *Id.* “The ultimate burden always rests with the [party asserting the *Batson* challenge] to prove purposeful discrimination.” *Id.*

“Step two of the analysis is perhaps the easiest step to meet as it does not require that the race-neutral explanation be persuasive, or even plausible.” *Purkett*, 514 U.S. at 768; *Inman* at 26, 760 S.E.2d at 108. “The explanation must only be ‘clear and reasonably specific such that the [party asserting the *Batson* challenge] has a full and fair opportunity to demonstrate pretext in the reason given and the trial court to fulfill its duty [in step three] to assess the plausibility of the reason in light of all the evidence with a bearing on it.” *Inman* at 26, 760 S.E.2d at 108. “In contrast, step three of the above analysis requires the court to carefully evaluate whether the party asserting the *Batson* challenge has proven racial discrimination by demonstrating that the proffered race-neutral reasons are mere pretext for a discriminatory intent.” *Id.* (emphasis added); *see also Batson*, 476 U.S. at 93-94 (stating that the court must consider “the totality of the relevant facts,” including both direct and circumstantial evidence). “During step three, the party asserting the *Batson* challenge should point to direct evidence of racial discrimination, such as showing that the opponent struck a juror for a facially neutral reason but did not strike a similarly-situated juror of another race.” *Inman* at 26, 760 S.E.2d at 108–09. “When the opponent of the strike proves the proponent of the strike practiced purposeful racial

discrimination, the trial court must quash the entire jury panel and initiate another jury selection de novo.” *Cochran*, 369 S.C. at 315, 631 S.E.2d at 298.

Discussion / Analysis

Here, in compliance with *Purkett*, the trial court conducted a *Batson* hearing and adhered to the mandatory procedure for evaluating whether the State executed its peremptory challenges in a manner that violated the Equal Protection Clause, with the exception of step three, which Appellant did not assert. After Appellant made a prima facie showing that the challenge was based on race, the trial judge asked the solicitor to provide a race-neutral explanation for the strike, and the solicitor did so. The solicitor explained that Juror #153 was struck because she had “twenty-eight counts of financial transaction card fraud; another fraud charge; and petit larceny on her criminal history.” (R. 29, lines 15–18). After giving this explanation to the trial judge, the solicitor further explained, “If Your Honor will notice, the other two jurors I struck also had That’s why I struck [the] other. I struck other ones for history. So it’s a criminal history thing. It has nothing to do with her race.” (R. 29, lines 22–23; R. 30, lines 5–8). There is no dispute the “other two jurors” were white.

Appellant had no response to the State’s explanation and only seemed concerned that if the maximum penalty for Juror #153’s charges was more than a year’s imprisonment, she would not have been qualified to serve on a jury in the first place. The trial judge and the solicitor seemed rightfully concerned that they make sure the juror in question was in fact the person with that particular criminal history. (R. 30, lines 9–22). After checking to ensure the identity of the juror and verify her criminal history, defense counsel seemed satisfied she was the right person and that the charges did not outright disqualify her from service; however, he made no other argument or challenge to her serving on the jury. (R. 31, line 17–R. 32, line 17). In other words,

Appellant made no “step three” argument “point[ing] to direct evidence of racial discrimination, such as showing that the opponent struck a juror for a facially neutral reason but did not strike a similarly-situated juror of another race.” *Inman* at 26, 760 S.E.2d at 108–09. Perhaps he chose not to because the State had already articulated that it had struck two white jurors for the same reason. Appellant effectively waived step three of the *Batson* procedure by not even trying to demonstrate pretext in the State’s race-neutral reason.

On appeal, Appellant makes two different arguments for why the trial court erred in denying his *Batson* motion. As noted above, these arguments are not preserved because they were not raised to and ruled upon by the trial court. *See State v. Dunbar*, 356 S.C. 138, 142, 587 S.E.2d 691, 693 (2003) (“In order for an issue to be preserved for appellate review, it must have been raised to and ruled upon by the trial judge.”). However, even if this Court somehow finds they are preserved, both arguments are without merit and should be dismissed. First, Appellant attempts to argue that the State’s reason for striking Juror #153 was “clearly pretextual in light of the State’s own *Batson* motion challenging everyone [sic] of Appellant’s strikes of white female jurors.” (App.Br. 9). Second, he focuses on the fact that the solicitor did not know the disposition of the juror’s charges and considers that fact critical, even though that does not affect whether she had a criminal history and the validity of the strike. (App.Br. 10, 11). He seems to misunderstand the trial judge’s comments, noted above, about “if she were convicted” and actually asserts in his brief that the court’s denial of the *Batson* motion was based on the “assumption” that “if she were convicted” then the State had provided an adequate race-neutral reason for the strike. This argument is fundamentally flawed. The trial court did not say that the only way the State’s reason would be seen as race neutral was if Juror #153 had been convicted, as Appellant implies in his brief. Indeed, the denial of the *Batson* motion belies his argument.

Furthermore, as to his claims that the State did not mention whether any of its other strikes were exercised because of a juror's criminal record and that the State did not identify another juror it struck because of his or her criminal record, these are misrepresentations of the record. As noted above, the solicitor clearly stated, "If Your Honor will notice, the other two jurors I struck also had That's why I struck [the] other. I struck other ones for history. So it's a criminal history thing. It has nothing to do with her race." (R. 29, lines 22–23; R. 30, lines 5–8). On its face, the explanation was race-neutral. The State provided a valid, race-neutral reason for striking the juror and thereby met its minimal burden at the second step in the process. *Purkett*, 514 U.S. at 768. The trial judge properly concluded the solicitor had given a race-neutral reason for her strike. At that point, the burden returned to Appellant to show something more to prove purposeful discrimination. *See Inman* at 26, 760 S.E.2d at 108. Although the trial court asked Appellant if there was anything else after confirming Juror #153's criminal record, he said, "No, Your Honor." By failing to offer any further showing in regard to Juror #153, he failed to carry his burden of proof in the trial court.

For these reasons, the trial court's denial of Appellant's *Batson* motion should be affirmed.

CONCLUSION